

REVIEW ARTICLE

Regulation of osteoblast differentiation mediated by BMP, Notch, and CCN3/NOV

Akira Yamaguchi^{a,*}, Kei Sakamoto^a, Tokutarou Minamizato^{a,b}, Kenichi Katsube^a, Shoichi Nakanishi^a

^a Section of Oral Pathology, Department of Oral Restitution, Graduate School of Tokyo Medical and Dental University, 1-5-45 Yushima, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8549, Japan

^b Section of Oral and Maxillofacial Oncology, Division of Maxillofacial Diagnostic and Surgical Sciences, Graduate School of Dental Science, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan

Received 6 October 2007; received in revised form 20 November 2007; accepted 20 November 2007

KEYWORDS Osteoblast; BMP; Notch; CCN3/NOV	Summary Osteoblasts originate from common progenitors, which are capable of differentiat- ing into other mesenchymal cell lineages such as chondrocytes, myoblasts and adipocytes. Various hormones and cytokines regulate osteoblast differentiation of mesenchymal progenitors to osteoblasts. Among these, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are the most potent inducers and stimulators of osteoblast differentiation: BMPs not only stimulate osteoprogenitors to differentiate into mature osteoblasts but also induce non-osteogenic cells to differentiate into osteoblast lineage cells. BMPs are important local factors that regulate Runx2, which is an essential transcription factor for osteoblast differentiation. The Notch signaling pathway is involved in a variety of cellular function, including cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. Notch signaling has a dual effect on osteoblast differentiation. In terms of stimulation, functional Notch signaling is essential not only for BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation but also for BMP signaling itself. CCN3/NOV, a member of the CCN family of proteins, exerts inhibitory effects on BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation is critically regulated by the intimate interaction of various signaling molecules including BMP, Notch and CCN3/NOV. © 2008 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ireland. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	49
2.	The role of BMPs in osteoblast differentiation	49
	2.1. BMP signaling pathway	49
	2.2. Regulation of osteoblast differentiation by BMPs	50

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 3 5804 5451; fax: +81 3 5803 0188. *E-mail address*: akira.mpa@tmd.ac.jp (A. Yamaguchi).

1882-7616/\$ — see front matter © 2008 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ireland. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jdsr.2007.11.003

3.	Role of Notch signaling in osteoblast differentiation	51
	3.1. The Notch signaling pathway	51
	3.2. Expression of Notch and its ligands on osteoblastic cells	51
	3.3. Notch signaling exerts diverse action on osteoblast differentiation	52
	3.4. Cross-talk between Notch and BMP signaling during osteoblast differentiation	52
4.	CCN3/NOV inhibits BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation by interacting with the BMP and Notch	
	signaling pathways	52
	4.1. The CCN family of proteins	52
	4.2. Biological activity of CCN3/NOV	52
	4.3. CCN3 inhibits osteoblast differentiation by interacting with BMP signaling	53
	4.4. CCN3 interacts with the Notch signaling pathway	53
5.	Summary	54
	References	54

1. Introduction

Skeletal tissue is composed of various types of mesenchymal cells such as osteoblasts, chondrocytes, myocytes, and adipocytes. These cells originate from common pluripotent progenitors called mesenchymal stem cells [1]. During the differentiation of these cell lineages, various hormones and cytokines critically regulate osteoblast differentiation. Among these, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are strong inducers of osteoblast differentiation and bone formation [2-4]. BMPs were originally identified as proteins that induced ectopic bone formation when implanted into muscular tissue [5]. Several lines of evidence have demonstrated that BMP-2 induces or promotes the expression of runt-related gene 2 [Runx2, alternatively called core-binding factor alpha 1 (Cbfa1)] [6-8] and osterix [9,10], which are essential transcription factors for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation [11-13], as well as osteoblast differentiation markers such as alkaline phosphatase (ALP), type I collagen and osteocalcin in various cells. Thus, BMPs are key molecules in the regulation of osteoblast differentiation.

The Notch signaling pathway is highly conserved among species and plays a fundamental role in a wide variety of processes during embryonic development and in the adult [14]. The Notch gene encodes a single transmembrane receptor member. The ligands for Notch including Delta1, Delta3, Delta4, Jagged1, and Jagged2 are also transmembrane proteins, and Notch signaling mediates cell-cell communication by regulating the choice of binary cell fate and the maintenance of stem cell populations [15]. In addition, it has been revealed that cross-talk between Notch and BMP signaling tightly regulates the cell fate in various types of cell lineages [16-19]. Although several studies using osteoblastic cell lines have demonstrated that Notch signaling is involved in the regulatory mechanism underlining osteoblast differentiation, these remain controversial [19-23].

The CCN family of proteins comprise the following six members; CCN1/cysteine-rich 61(CYR61), CCN2/connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), CCN3/nephroblastoma overexpressed gene (NOV), CCN4/Wnt-induced secreted protein 1 (WISP1), CCN5/WISP2, and CCN6/WISP3. These proteins have been demonstrated to possess a growth factor-like activity and to regulate cell growth and tissue formation. It has been reported that CCN proteins regulate the differentiation of skeletal mesenchymal cells such as muscle cells [24,25], chondrocytes [26,27] and osteoblasts [28–31]. Importantly, CTGF/CCN2 binds to BMP-4 and antagonizes its action [32]. We have also demonstrated that CCN3/NOV associates with Notch1, and that it inhibits myogenic differentiation [24]. Since these reports highlight the importance of CCN proteins in osteoblast differentiation, we investigated the role of CCN3/NOV in osteoblast differentiation [31]. Our study indicates that CCN3/NOV regulates osteoblast differentiation by interacting with BMP and Notch signalings.

Thus, osteoblast differentiation is regulated by multiple factors that interacting with BMPs. In this review, we will describe the roles of BMP, Notch and CCN3/NOV in osteoblast differentiation.

2. The role of BMPs in osteoblast differentiation

2.1. BMP signaling pathway

BMPs bind to two types of serine-threonine receptor, termed BMP type I receptor (BMPR-I) and type II receptors [33]. Both types of receptor are necessary for the transduction of BMP signals. Four BMPR-I receptors [(TRS (ALK1), ACVR1 (ALK2), BMPR-IA, and BMPR-IB)] have previously been cloned. Three type II receptors (BMPR-II, ActR-IIA, and ActR-IIB) are involved in the BMP signaling pathway. BMPR-I binds BMPs directly in the absence of type II receptors. This is in contrast to the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) type I receptor that does not bind ligands in the absence of the TGF- β type II receptor [34,35]. BMPs preferentially bind at the N-terminal extracellular domain of BMPR-I, which is connected by a single transmembrane region to the C-terminal cytoplasmic kinase domain. BMPR-I has a cytoplasmic juxtamembrane region that is rich in glycine and serine residues (GS domain). Ligand-binding phosphorvlates serines and threonines in the GS domain thereby activating BMPR-II; this event transmits downstream BMP signals through BMP-specific Smads and p38 MAPK to regulate BMP-responding genes.

A number of signal-transducing molecules of the TGF- β superfamily, termed Smads, have previously been identified (Fig. 1) [33,36,37]. To date, eight mammalian Smad pro-



Figure 1 BMP signaling via Smad pathway. BMP binding to BMPR results in activation of BMPRs. Activated receptor complex phosphorylates R-Smad (Smad1/5/8). Activated R-Smad associates with Co-Smad (Smad4), and this complex translocates into nucleus. This complex bind to Smad binding element with transcriptional coactivator or corepressor. BMP signal stimulates expression of I-Smad (Smad6), which is capable of inhibiting the phosphorylation of R-Smad. Adapted from Ref. [37].

teins, Smad1 through Smad8, have been isolated [33,37]. These proteins are classified into three subgroups according to their structures and functions [33]. The Smads belonging to the first subgroup, referred to as pathway-restricted Smads (R-Smads) are ligand-specific and activated by the binding of ligands to type I receptors. Among these, Smad1, Smad5 and Smad8 are involved in BMP signaling [37-41], whereas Smad2 and Smad3 mediate TGF-B/activin signaling [42,43]. The second subgroup of Smads comprises the common mediator Smads (C-Smads). Smad4 (also termed DPC-4) belongs to this subgroup [42]. R-Smads are phosphorylated by the serine/threonine kinase receptors that interact with C-Smads, and then form a heterodimeric complex. This complex is translocated into the nucleus and regulates the transcription of target genes. The third subgroup of Smads comprises the inhibitory Smads (I-Smads), Smad6 and Smad7 [42–45]. These Smads inhibit ligand activity by stably binding to type I receptors. Smad6 binds to the TGF-B type I receptor, the activin type IB receptor and BMPR-IB, while Smad7 binds to the TGF- β type I receptor [44]. I-Smads compete with R-Smads for the binding to type I receptors. Smad6 also competes with Smad4 for the binding to activated Smad1 [45].

Various BMP antagonists regulate the action of BMPs at extracellular region [46]. These antagonists bind to BMPs and prevent specific binding to the cell surface receptors. Extracellular BMP antagonists include noggin, chordin, follistatin, follistatin-related gene, twisted gastrulation, and DAN family members (Dan, Cerberus, gremlin, sclerostin/SOST). Indeed, noggin, chordin and gremlin inhibit BMP-induced ALP activity in W-20-17 bone marrow stromal cells and C3H10T1/2 cells [47–50]. During mouse embryogenesis, noggin is expressed not only in the node, notochord, and dorsal somite, but also in the condensing cartilage and immature chondrocytes [50] *Noggin* null mutant mice indicate that this molecule plays important roles in the normal patterning of the neural tube, somites and cartilage including joint formation [50].

2.2. Regulation of osteoblast differentiation by BMPs

Various mesenchymal cell lines are useful for studying the regulatory mechanism of osteoblast differentiation. C3H10T1/2 clone 8 (C3H10T1/2), a fibroblastic cell line derived from an early mouse embryo, comprises multipotential mesenchymal cells. Untreated control C3H10T1/2 cells exhibit no or extremely low levels of phenotypic characteristics related to osteoblasts, chondrocytes, myoblasts, and adipocytes [51]. We were the first to demonstrate that BMP-2 strongly enhances ALP activity, which is an early marker of osteoblast differentiation [51]. Although control C3H10T1/2 cells produced no osteocalcin, a marker appearing at the late stage of osteoblast differentiation, BMP-7induced osteocalcin production by C3H10T1/2 cells [52]. These results indicated that BMP-2 and BMP-7 induce C3H10T1/2 cells to differentiate into osteogenic lineage cells. BMP-2, BMP-6, BMP-7, and GDF5 stimulates ROB-C26 cells, which are a committed osteoprogenitor cell line that retains the potential to differentiation into myotubes and adipocytes [53], to differentiate into osteoblasts [3]. These results indicated that BMPs are important regulators of the differentiation of osteoblasts from multipotent mesenchymal cells.

There are several osteoblast precursor cell lines, the differentiation potential of which is restricted to the osteoblast lineage. Among these, MC3T3-E1, which is a clonal osteoblastic cell line derived from the calvariae of a latestage mouse embryo, is most frequently used to study osteoblast differentiation. This cell line expresses various osteoblast phenotypes including the formation of mineralized bone nodules in long-term culture. BMP-2 and BMP-7 increase ALP activity, PTH-responsiveness and osteocalcin production, suggesting that BMPs promote the differentiation of osteoblast precursors to more mature osteoblasts.

Osteoblastic cells isolated from the calvariae of newborn rats or the bone marrow of adult rats (primary osteoblasts) provide a suitable model in which to explore the bone formation process *in vitro*; these cells generate numerous mineralized bone nodules when cultured in the presence of β -glycerophosphate and ascorbic acid. Using these models, we demonstrated that the expression of BMP-2, BMP-4, and their receptors (BMPR-IA, BMPR-IB, and BMPR-II) is closely related to bone nodule formation, suggesting that BMPs play important roles in the process of bone nodule formation through their receptors in a paracrine and/or autocrine manner [54].

We were the first to report the inhibitory effects of BMP-2 on myogenic differentiation in the ROB-C26 cells, which are an osteoblast precursor cell line with the capacity to differentiate into myogenic cells [2]. BMP-2 also inhibits myogenic differentiation in C2C12 myoblasts, while concomitantly stimulating osteoblast differentiation in this cell line [4]. Thus, BMPs not only induce or promote osteoblast differentiation in various stages of mesenchymal cell development, but also regulate myogenesis in these cells.

Since BMP-2 knockout is embryonic lethal, Tsuji et al. [55] recently generated transgenic mice in which *BMP-2* was inactivated in a limb-specific manner before the onset of skeletal development using a *Prx1cre* enhancer. This avoided the embryonic lethality that results from the global loss of

BMP-2. These conditional knockout mice lacking BMP-2 synthesis in their limb bones exhibited few skeletal abnormalities. This might be due to the compensatory effect of other BMPs expressed in the developing limb. Interestingly, however, these mice suffer spontaneous fractures that do not heal with time; it appears that earliest steps in the fracture healing process are blocked. These results indicate that BMP-2 expression during embryogenesis is not required for the events that determine correct skeletal patterning and early osteochondrogenesis, and that BMP-2 is a critical endogenous factor necessary for fracture repair. Further studies using conditional knockout mice specifically lacking BMP signaling molecules in osteoblasts will provide more important information concerning the function of BMPs in osteoblast differentiation.

3. Role of Notch signaling in osteoblast differentiation

3.1. The Notch signaling pathway

Notch receptors contain 36 epidermal growth factor (EGF)like repeats and 3 cysteine-rich Notch/LIN-12 repeats in a large extracelullar domain, and also 7 tandem ankyrin repeats, a proline/glutamine/serine/threonine-rich (PEST) domain, and a transactivation domain (TAD) in an intracellular region [15,56]. EGF repeats are involved in ligand interaction, the prevention of constitutive activation, and the lateral interaction for homodimerization [57]. Similar to Notch receptors, Notch ligands also contain EGF repeats in the extracellular domain, and in addition a unique cysteinerich N-terminal region referred to as the Delta/Serrate/Lag2 (DSL) domain. The interaction of Notch with the ligands induces nuclear translocation of the intracellular domain of Notch (NICD) as a result of proteolytic cleavage at the juxtamembrane portion by γ -secretase (Fig. 2) [56]. In the



Figure 2 Notch signaling pathway. Ligands of Delta or Jagged family induce intramembranous cleavage of the Notch receptor by γ -secretase. The cleaved form of intracellular domain, NICD, translocates into nucleus, and it replaces transcriptional corepressors with activators enabling transcription of target genes, *Hes* and *Hey* by CSL.

nuclei, NICD interacts with CSL DNA-binding proteins, including CBF1/RBP-J, and transactivates the target genes such as *Hes1* and *Hey1*(Fig. 2). As an alternative pathway, Notch receptors have also been reported to transmit signals through CSL-independent pathways by interacting with other signaling molecules, such as MAP kinase, Src, and nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B) [39].

3.2. Expression of Notch and its ligands on osteoblastic cells

To understand the role of Notch signaling in osteoblast differentiation, it is important to determine the expression profiles of Notch receptors and their ligands on osteoblastic cells under both physiological and pathological conditions. Our immunohistochemical studies using a mouse bone regeneration model revealed that Notch1 expression was weak in normal femurs, but strong expression in mesenchymal cells, including osteoblastic cells that had migrated into a bone defect at 5 days after injury [19]. At this stage, Delta1 was also expressed, and confocal microscopic analysis demonstrated the extensive colocalization between Notch1 and Delta1. Immunostaining of Jagged1 at day 10, at which time reconstruction of cortical bone is taking place, demonstrate that both Notch1 and Jagged1 also colocalize in the osteoblasts on the surface of the trabeculae. Immunohistochemistry using antibodies that recognize the active form of Notch1 revealed that the Notch1 signal is activated in the osteoblasts, and that chondrocytes appear around the sites of injury [19]. Real-time PCR also demonstrated that the expression of Notch1, Delta1, and Jagged1 was low before injury but was temporarily up-regulated at day 5 after injury (Fig. 3) [19]. These results indicate that the Notch1 signal is activated in osteoblastic cells during bone regeneration via the up-regulation of Delta1 and Jagged1. Moreover, the concomitant expression of Notch1, Delta1 and Jagged1 suggests the possibility of an autocrine and/or paracrine action rather than a cell-to-cell signaling mechanism, which is characterized by the contact-dependent inhibition model of nervous system development [58,59].

Prior to investigating the function of Notch signaling in osteoblast differentiation using various osteoblastic cells, we



Figure 3 Expression profile of mRNA for *Notch1*, *Delta 1*, and *Jagged 1* during bone regeneration. The expression level of these mRNA is low before injury, but these mRNA is highly up-regulated on day 5 after injury. Relative expression of each mRNA was quantified by real-time RT-PCR. Adapted from Ref. [19].

also confirmed the expression of the mRNA of Notch1–4, Delta1, Delta3, Delta4, Jagged1, and Jagged2 by RT-PCR. C3H10T1/2, MC3T3-E1, C2C12, and primary osteoblastic cells isolated from newborn mice calvariae and from adult mouse bone marrow expressed substantial levels of Notch1 and Jagged1 mRNA; however, the expression of Notch3 and Delta4 was extremely low [19]. These results indicate that Notch signaling is involved in the regulation of various osteoblastic cells.

3.3. Notch signaling exerts diverse action on osteoblast differentiation

There have been several reports that describe the role of Notch signaling in osteoblasts differentiation. In 1999, Nofziger et al. [20] reported using C2C12 cells that differentiate into myoblasts and osteoblasts that Notch signaling inhibited not only myogenesis but also osteogenesis induced by BMP-2. These results are in agreement with the general concept that Notch signaling blocks differentiation toward a primary differentiation fate or that it forces the cell to remain in an undifferentiated state [14,59]. Shindo et al. [60]. demonstrated that using KusaA^{NICD} and KusaO^{NICD}, which stably overexpress NICD that Notch signaling suppresses the osteoblastic differentiation of mesenchymal progenitor cells. Sciaudone et al. [22] also demonstrated that constitutive overexpression of NICD by retroviral transduction inhibited osteoblast differentiation in ST2 and MC3T3-E1 cells. Recently, these authors proposed that the inhibitory effects of Notch signaling on osteoblast differentiation are induced by the suppression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling [23].

In contrast to the inhibitory effects of Notch signaling on osteoblast differentiation, Tezuka et al. [21] demonstrated using C3H10T1/2 and MC3T3-E1 cells that Notch signaling stimulated osteoblast differentiation. We also demonstrated the stimulatory effects of Notch signaling on the differentiation [19]. We transiently overexpressed Delta1 and Jagged1 by adenoviral transduction in MC3T3-E1 cells. This induced no apparent changes in osteoblast differentiation, but did augment BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation, including bone nodule formation associated with the up-regulation of Hes1, a direct target gene of the Notch pathway. In addition, the injection of MC3T3-E1 cells overexpressing Delta1 and Jagged1 into muscle enhanced BMP-2-induced ectopic bone formation in vivo. When Notch signaling was inhibited by the dominant negative extracellular domain of Notch1, specific γ -secretase inhibitor (L685,458) or siRNA impaired BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation and the promoter activity of *Id-1*, a target gene of the BMP pathway. These results indicated the functional redundancy between Delta1 and Jagged1 in osteoblastic differentiation, whereby Delta1/Jagged1-activated Notch1 enhances BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation. Furthermore, our data also suggest that Notch signaling is essential not only for BMP-2induced osteoblast differentiation but also for BMP signaling itself.

One interpretation of this dual action of Notch signaling on osteoblast differentiation is that the effect of Notch activation may differ depending on the period of activation; transient and short-term activation of the Notch pathway may enhance osteoblastic differentiation, whereas longterm, continuous activation may lead to the inhibition of osteoblastic commitment. Further studies will be necessary in order to elucidate the culture period-dependent functional difference of Notch signaling in osteoblastic differentiation.

3.4. Cross-talk between Notch and BMP signaling during osteoblast differentiation

In order to explore the mechanism underlying the cooperative interaction between Notch and BMP signaling in osteoblast differentiation, we examined the cross-talk of BMP and Notch signaling. Recent studies have revealed that Notch and BMP/TGF- β cooperatively activate the opposite pathway, such as Hes1 and Hes-5, or Smad target gene PAI-1 [17,61,62]. In the Notch pathway, NICD interacts with Smad1/5, and recruits p300 and P/CAF to the transcription machinery: this results in the cooperative activation of Notch target genes such as Herp2 and Hes [17,62]. In our study, however, Notch1 did not enhance BMP signaling leading to Id-1 expression. Furthermore, BMP-2 failed to induce Hes-1 gene expression (unpublished data), indicating the presence of other interaction mechanisms between BMP and Notch. It is most likely that other Notch target genes, such as Lfng, Hev1, and Tcf7 which could be up-regulated in C2C12 cells in response to BMP-2 [63], may be involved in the cooperative interaction between BMP-2 and Notch in osteoblast differentiation, although Hey1, another target gene of both Notch and BMP, may act as a negative regulator [64]. More importantly, we revealed that Notch activation is required for BMP signaling [19]. The inhibition of Notch signaling leads to a dramatic decrease of Id-1 promoter activity, indicating that Notch signaling is required for BMP signaling itself.

4. CCN3/NOV inhibits BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation by interacting with the BMP and Notch signaling pathways

4.1. The CCN family of proteins

The CCN family of proteins comprises the following six members; CYR61, CCN2/CTGF, CCN3/NOV, CCN4/WISP1, CCN5/WISP2, and CCN6/WISP3. Several lines of evidence demonstrate that these proteins regulate the differentiation of skeletal mesenchymal cells such as muscle cells [24–26], chondrocytes [26,27], and osteoblasts [28–31].

The CCN family of proteins basically contain four conserved modular domains with sequence similarities to IGF-binding protein (IGFBP), von Willebrand type C (vWC), thrombospondin type 1 (TSP1), and C-terminal cysteine knot (CT) domains [25]. WISP2/CCN5 retains similar structure lacking the CT domain. These modular structural domains are shared among the members of the CCN family, with the exception of proteins of CCN5/WISP2 that lacks the CT module [26].

4.2. Biological activity of CCN3/NOV

The N-terminal truncated form of CCN3/NOV can transform chicken embryonic fibroblasts by its oncogenic activity, and

aberrant expression of CCN3/NOV is associated with the development of several tumors of different origins including Wilms' tumor, renal cell carcinoma, neuroblastoma, glioblastoma, adrenocortical carcinoma, and musculoskeletal tumors [17–20]. During normal development, *CCN3/NOV* is expressed in a wide variety of tissues including the notochord, central nervous system, kidney, adrenal cortex, muscle and cartilage. Several studies have demonstrated that CCN3/NOV physically associates with fibulin 1C [65], rpb7 [66], connexin 43 [67], and Notch [24]. Although the biological activities of CCN3/NOV are to a certain extent attributed to the interactions with these molecules, other factors may interact with CCN3/NOV and are likely to regulate its downstream reactions.

The expression of CCN3/NOV is detected in the dermomyotome [68]. Interestingly, the expression in the dermomyotome coincides with that of the transmembrane receptor, Notch and its ligand, Delta. The expression of Notch frequently overlaps with CCN3/NOV expression. For example, both genes are expressed in chondrocytes and are assumed to participate in cartilage formation [69]. CCN3/ NOV is also involved in vascular formation [70], and its role in response to injury has been postulated, based on the prominent upregulation of CCN3/NOV observed in smooth muscle cells after balloon catheter injury of rat carotid arteries [71,72]. In this experimental model, a remarkable up-regulation of Notch and its ligands has also been demonstrated [72]. These observations suggest a hypothesis that CCN3/NOV may exert some of its effects through the Notch signaling pathway.

4.3. CCN3 inhibits osteoblast differentiation by interacting with BMP signaling

Several reports [28-30] have indicated that the members of the CCN family participate in regulating osteoblast differentiation; however, the distinct role of CCN3 in osteoblast differentiation has not been well documented. CTGF/CCN2 binds to BMP-4 and antagonizes its action [32]. It also inhibits BMP-9-induced osteoblast differentiation [29]. These reports prompted us to explore that CCN3 itself also interacts with BMP and affects BMP signaling. In order to confirm this hypothesis, we first overexpressed CCN3 in MC3T3-E1 osteoblastic cells by using adenoviruses with or without transduction with AdBMP-2 [32]. This experiment demonstrated that the overexpression of CCN3 inhibited the expression of osteoblast-related markers induced by BMP-2 such as Runx2, osterix, ALP and osteocalcin. These results indicate that CCN3 exerts an inhibitory effect on BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation. To explore the mechanism involved in this effect, we examined the interaction between CCN3 and BMP-2, and revealed the direct physical association between these two proteins. As of yet, however, we have not confirmed that NOV inhibits BMP-2 action by preventing it from binding to BMP receptors [32]. Such a study is currently being undertaken in our laboratories. In addition, the overexpression of CCN3 inhibited Smad1/5/8 phosphorylation and the expression of *Id1*, *Id2* and *Id3*, all of which are induced by BMP-2 [32]. These findings indicate that CCN3 inhibits BMP-2induced osteoblast differentiation by its involvement in BMP signaling (Fig. 4).



Figure 4 A possible mechanism underlying the inhibitory effects of CCN3/NOV on osteoblast differentiation. CCN3/NOV binds to BMP-2, though extracellular binding of these two molecules should be further confirmed, and inhibits phosphorylation of Smad1/5/8. This effect attenuates BMP signaling, and down-regulate Runx2 transcription. CCN3/NOV also Notch at extracellular region, and increased NICD. NICD increases expression of *Hey1*, and then Hey1 inhibit transcription of Runx2. Thus, the inhibitory effects of CCN3/NOV on osteoblast differentiation are mediate by interacting with both BMP and Notch signaling pathways.

4.4. CCN3 interacts with the Notch signaling pathway

We demonstrated that the C-terminal cysteine knot of CCN3 is associated with the EGF-like repeats of Notch1, and that it inhibits myogenic differentiation in C2/4 myoblasts [24]. This suggests that the involvement of CCN3 in the Notch signaling pathway also plays a role in the inhibitory effect of CCN3 on BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation. To confirm this, we performed western blot analysis to examine the expression of the cleaved Notch1 protein, which is an active form of Notch [32]. This study revealed that the overexpression of CCN3 elevated the expression level of cleaved Notch1, and that simultaneous transduction with AdCCN3 and AdBMP-2 retained the expression level of cleaved Notch1 in MC3T3-E1 cells. Further, CCN3 increased the mRNA expression levels of Hes1 and Hey1, which are involved in downstream Notch signal transduction, and CCN3 also stimulated the promoter activities of these genes [32]. These results indicate that CCN3 is involved in Notch signaling during osteoblast differentiation (Fig. 4).

Zamurovic et al. [64] reported that BMP-2 stimulated the expression of *Hey1* in osteoblastic cells, including MC3T3-E1 cells, and that Hey1 inhibited osteoblast differentiation by abrogating the transcriptional activity of *Runx2*. These results suggest that Hey1 is a negative regulator of BMP-induced osteoblast differentiation. We revealed that the overexpression of *CCN3* promoted the mRNA expression and promoter activity of *Hey1*, suggesting that Hey1 is involved in the inhibitory effect of CCN3 on BMP-2-induced

osteoblast differentiation [32]. This finding is supported by our experiments using Hey1-deficient osteoblastic cells (dHey1 cells); CCN3 induced no apparent inhibitory effects on BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation in these cells [32]. It will be an important issue to consider whether the changes observed in dHey1 cells is due to Hey1 deficiency and/or chromosomal abnormality of appropriate gene expression during establishment of the cell lines. In order to assess this possibility, we rescued the expression of Hey1 using adenovirus in dHey1 cells. This experiment confirmed that the recovery of Hey1 expression in dHey1 cells suppressed the osteoblast-related markers induced by AdBMP-2. These results further supported Zamurovic's proposal that Hey1 is a negative regulator of BMP-induced osteoblast differentiation [64]. Interestingly, Lee et al. [73] reported that Hes1, which is another downstream transducer of Notch signaling, stimulated Runx2 activity by cooperating with retinoblastoma protein (pRb). In our study [32], although CCN3 stimulated the expression of both Hes1 and Hev1 in MC3T3-E1 cells, its stimulatory effect on Hev1 was greater than that on Hes1. It will be interesting to explore the distinct roles of these two downstream transducers during osteoblast differentiation.

Recently, Rydziel et al. [74] reported that CCN3 inhibited osteoblast differentiation by inhibiting the BMP signaling pathway. They suggested, however, that Notch signaling is not involved in the inhibitory effect of CCN3 on osteoblast differentiation. Further studies are required in order to resolve these conflicting results on the role of Notch signaling in the inhibitory effects of CCN3 on osteoblast differentiation. Rydziel et al. [74] also reported that CCN3 transgenic mice that specifically overexpressed CCN3 in osteoblasts exhibited osteopenia due to reduced bone formation activity. Our CCN3 transgenic mice also exhibited similar phenotypes (unpublished results). These results indicate that CCN3/NOV exerts inhibitory action on osteoblast differentiation in vitro as well as in vivo. Since our studies revealed that the expression of CCN3/NOV was dramatically up-regulated concomitant with the molecules involved in the Notch and BMP signaling pathways at an early phase of bone regeneration (unpublished results), it will be of great interest to investigate the bone regeneration process in CCN3/NOV transgenic and knockout mice. Such investigations are now under way in our laboratory.

A recent report demonstrated that CCN3/NOV is a central regulator of human primitive hematopoietic cells [75]. Since the osteoblast lineage cells are essential to maintain hematopoietic stem cells in bone marrow [76], CCN3/NOV expressed in osteoblast lineage cells might be involved in regulation of hematopoietic stem cells.

5. Summary

After cloning of human *BMP* genes [77], the role of BMPs in osteoblast differentiation has been extensively investigated by using the recombinant proteins. Several lines of evidence indicate that BMPs stimulate or enhance Runx2 expression and activity in osteoprogenitors and osteoblastic cell. This BMP-Runx2 axis plays crucial roles in osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. In addition to these findings, recent studies revealed that BMP signals cross talk with other signaling pathways such as Notch and Wnt. Further studies concerning cross talk of BMP-Runx2 axis and other signaling pathways are required to clarify the regulatory mechanism of osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. These studies will provide important information on the molecular mechanism of bone regeneration that will be useful for developing effective therapeutic approach to bone repair.

References

- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 1999;284:143–7.
- [2] Yamaguchi A, Katagiri T, Ikeda T, Wozney JM, Rosen V, Wang EA, et al. Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 stimulates osteoblastic maturation and inhibits myogenic differentiation in vitro. J Cell Biol 1991;113:681–7.
- [3] Yamaguchi A, Komori T, Suda T. Regulation of osteoblast differentiation mediated by bone morphogenetic proteins, hedgehogs, and Cbfa1. Endocr Rev 2000;21:393–411.
- [4] Katagiri T, Yamaguchi A, Komaki M, Abe E, Takahashi N, Ikeda T, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 converts the differentiation pathway of C2C12 myoblasts into the osteoblast lineage. J Cell Biol 1994;127:1755–66.
- [5] Urist MR. Bone: formation by autoinduction. Science 1965;150: 893–9.
- [6] Ducy P, Zhang R, Geoffroy V, Ridall AL, Karsenty G. Osf2/Cbfa1: a transcriptional activator of osteoblast differentiation. Cell 1997;89:747-54.
- [7] Lee KS, Kim HJ, Li QL, Chi XZ, Ueta C, Komori T, et al. Runx2 is a common target of transforming growth factor beta1 and bone morphogenetic protein 2, and cooperation between Runx2 and Smad5 induces osteoblast-specific gene expression in the pluripotent mesenchymal precursor cell line C2C12. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:8783–92.
- [8] Lee MH, Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Park HD, Kang AR, Kyung HM, et al. BMP-2-induced Runx2 expression is mediated by Dlx5, and TGFbeta 1 opposes the BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation by suppression of Dlx5 expression. J Biol Chem 2003;278:34387– 94.
- [9] Celil AB, Campbell PG. BMP-2 and insulin-like growth factor-I mediate Osterix (Osx) expression in human mesenchymal stem cells via the MAPK and protein kinase D signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 2005;280:31353–9.
- [10] Lee MH, Kwon TG, Park HS, Wozney JM, Ryoo HM. BMP-2induced Osterix expression is mediated by Dlx5 but is independent of Runx2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003;309: 689–94.
- [11] Komori T, Yagi H, Nomura S, Yamaguchi A, Sasaki K, Deguchi K, et al. Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. Cell 1997;89:755–64.
- [12] Otto F, Thornell AP, Crompton T, Denzel A, Gilmour KC, Rosewell IR, et al. Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. Cell 1997;89:765–71.
- [13] Nakashima K, Zhou X, Kunkel G, Zhang Z, Deng JM, Behringer RR, et al. The novel zinc finger-containing transcription factor osterix is required for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Cell 2002;108:17–29.
- [14] Bolos V, Grego-Bessa J, de la Pompa JL. Notch signaling in development and cancer. Endocr Rev 2007;28:339-63.
- [15] Fiuza U-M, Arias AM. Cell and molecular biology of Notch. J Endocrinol 2007;194:459-74.
- [16] Dahlqvist C, Blokzijil A, Chapman G, Falk A, Dannaeus K, Ibanez CF, et al. Functional Notch signaling is required for BMP4induced inhibition of myogenic differentiation. Development 2003;130:6089–99.

- [17] Itoh F, Itoh S, Goumans M-J, Valdimarsdottir G, Iso T, Dotto GP, et al. Synergy and antagonism between Notch and BMP receptor signaling pathways in endothelial cells. EMBO J 2004;23: 541-51.
- [18] Herpin A, Cunningham C. Cross-talk between the bone morphogenetic protein pathway and other major signaling pathways results in tightly regulated cell-specific outcomes. FEBS J 2007;274:2977–85.
- [19] Nobta M, Tsukazaki T, Shibata Y, Chang X, Moriishi T, Sakano S, et al. Critical regulation of BMP-induced osteoblastic differentiation by Delta1/Jagged1-activated Notch1 signaling. J Biol Chem 2005;280:15842-8.
- [20] Nofziger D, Miyamoto A, Lyons KM, Weinmaster G. Notch signaling imposes two distinct blocks in the differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts. Development 1999;126:1689–702.
- [21] Tezuka K, Yasuda M, Watanabe N, Morimura N, Kuroda K, Miyatani S, et al. Stimulation of osteoblastic cell differentiation by Notch. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17:231–9.
- [22] Sciaudone M, Gazzerro E, Priest L, Delany AM, Canalis E. Notch 1 impairs osteoblastic cell differentiation. Endocrinology 2003;144:5631–9.
- [23] Deregowski V, Gazzerro E, Priest L, Rydziel S, Canalis E. Notch 1 overexpression inhibits osteoblastogenesis by suppressing Wnt/ beta-catenin but not bone morphogenetic protein signaling. J Biol Chem 2006;281:6203–10.
- [24] Sakamoto K, Yamaguchi S, Ando R, Miyawaki A, Kabasawa Y, Takagi M, et al. The nephroblastoma overexpressed gene (NOV/ ccn3) protein associates with Notch1 extracellular domain and inhibits myoblast differentiation via Notch signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 2002;277:29399–405.
- [25] Calhabeu F, Lafont J, Le Dreau G, Laurent M, Kazazian C, Schaeffer L, et al. NOV/CCN3 impairs muscle cell commitment and differentiation. Exp Cell Res 2006;312:1876–89.
- [26] Takigawa M, Nakanishi T, Kubota S, Nishida T. Role of CTGF/ HCS24/ecogenin in skeletal growth control. J Cell Physiol 2003;194:256–66.
- [27] Lafont J, Jacques C, Le Dreau G, Calhabeu F, Thibout H, Dubois C, et al. New target genes for NOV/CCN3 in chondrocytes: TGFbeta2 and type X collagen. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20:2213–23.
- [28] Nishida T, Nakanishi T, Asano M, Shimo T, Takigawa M. Effects of CTGF/Hcs24, a hypertrophic chondrocyte-specific gene product, on the proliferation and differentiation of osteoblastic cells in vitro. J Cell Physiol 2000;184:197–206.
- [29] Luo Q, Kang Q, Si W, Jiang W, Park JK, Peng Y, et al. Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) is regulated by Wnt and bone morphogenetic proteins signaling in osteoblast differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Biol Chem 2004;279:55958-6.
- [30] Si W, Kang Q, Luu HH, Park JK, Luo Q, Song WX, et al. CCN1/ Cyr61 is regulated by the canonical Wnt signal and plays an important role in Wnt3A-induced osteoblast differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:2955–64.
- [31] Minamizato T, Sakamoto K, Liu T, Kokubo H, Katsube K, Perbal B, et al. CCN3/NOV inhibits BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation by interacting with BMP and Notch signaling pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007;354:567-73.
- [32] Abreu JG, Ketpura NI, Reversade B, De Robertis EM. Connectivetissue growth factor (CTGF) modulates cell signalling by BMP and TGF-beta. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4:599–604.
- [33] Heldin CH, Miyazono K, Ten Dijke P. TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins. Nature 1997;390:465–71.
- [34] Rosenzweig BL, Imamura T, Okadome T, Cox GN, Yamashita H, Ten Dijke P, et al. Cloning and characterization of a human type II receptor for bone morphogenetic proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:7632-6.
- [35] Nohno T, Ishikawa T, Saito T, Hosokawa K, Noji S, Wolsing DH, et al. Identification of a human type II receptor for bone morphogenetic protein-4 that forms differential heteromeric

complexes with bone morphogenetic protein type I receptors. J Biol Chem 1995;270:22522–6.

- [36] Massaous J, Hata A. TGF-beta signaling through the Smad pathway. Trends Cell Biol 1997;7:187–92.
- [37] Leivonen S-K, Kähäri V-M. Transforming growth factor-β signaling in cancer invasion and metastasis. Int J Cancer 2007;121: 2119–24.
- [38] Hoodless PA, Haerry T, Abdollah S, Staplenton M, O'Conner MB, Attisano L, et al. MADR1, a MAD-related protein that functions in BMP2 signaling pathway. Cell 1996;85:489–500.
- [39] Graff JM, Bansal A, Melton DA. Xenopus Mad proteins transduce distinct subsets of signals for the TGFβ superfamily. Cell 1996;85:479-87.
- [40] Liu F, Hata A, Baker JC, Doody J, Cárcamo J, Harland RM, et al. A human Mad protein acting as a BMP-regulated transcriptional activator. Nature 1996;381:620–3.
- [41] Kretzschmar M, Liu F, Hata A, Doody J, Massagué J. The TGF-β family mediator Smad1 is phospholyrated directly and activated functionally by the BMP receptor kinase. Genes Dev 1997;11: 984–95.
- [42] Zhang Y, Feng XH, Wu RY, Derynck R. Receptor-associated Mad homologues synergize as effectors of TGF-β response. Nature 1996;383:168–72.
- [43] Hayashi H, Abdollah S, Qiu Y, Cai J, Xu YY, Grinnell BW, et al. The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGFβ receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFβ signaling. Cell 1997;89:1165–73.
- [44] Imamura T, Takase M, Nishihara A, Oeda E, Hanai J, Kawabata M, et al. Smad6 inhibits signaling by the TGF- β superfamily. Nature 1997;389:622–6.
- [45] Hata A, Lagna G, Massagué J, Hemmati-Brivanlou A. Smad6 inhibits BMP/Smad1 signaling by specifically competing with the Smad4 tumor suppressor. Genes Dev 1998;12:186–97.
- [46] Canalis E, Economides AN, Gazzerro E. Bone morphogenetic proteins, their antagonists, and the skeleton. Endocr Rev 2003;24:218–35.
- [47] Zimmerman LB, De Jesús-Escobar JM, Harland RM. The Spemann organizer signal noggin bonds and inactivates bone morphogenetic protein 4. Cell 1996;86:599–606.
- [48] Piccolo S, Sasai Y, Lu B, De Robertis EM. Dorsoventral patterning in *Xenopus*: inhibition of ventral signals by direct binding of chordin to BMP-4. Cell 1996;86:589–98.
- [49] Hsu DR, Economides AN, Wang X, Eimon PM, Harland RM. The Xenopus dorsaling factor Gremlin identifies a novel family of secreted proteins that antagonize BMP activities. Mol Cell 1998;1:673–83.
- [50] Brunet LJ, McMahon JA, McMahon AP, Harland RM. Noggin, cartilage morphogenesis, and joint formation in the mammalian skeleton. Science 1998;280:1455–7.
- [51] Katagiri T, Yamaguchi A, Ikeda T, Yoshiki S, Wozney JM, Rosen V, et al. The non-osteogenic mouse pluripotent cell line, C3H10T1/2, is induced to differentiate into osteoblastic cells by recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2. Biochem Biophy Res Commun 1990;172:295–9.
- [52] Asahina I, Sampath TK, Hauschka PV. Human osteogenic protein-1 induces chondroblastic, osteoblastic, and/or adipocytic differentiation of clonal murine target cells. Exp Cell Res 1996;222:38–47.
- [53] Yamaguchi A, Kahn AJ. Clonal osteogenic cell lines express myogenic and adipocytic developmental potential. Calcif Tissue Int 1991;49:221–5.
- [54] Wada Y, Kataoka H, Yokose S, Ishizuya T, Miyazono K, Gao YH, et al. Changes in osteoblast phenotype during differentiation of enzymatically isolated rat calvarial cells. Bone 1998;22:479–85.
- [55] Tsuji K, Bandyopadhyay A, Harfe BD, Cox K, Kakar S, Gerstenfeld L, et al. BMP2 activity, although dispensable for bone formation, is required for the initiation of fracture healing. Nat Genet 2006;38:1424–9.

- [56] Lubman OY, Korolev SV, Kopan R. Anchoring notch genetics and biochemistry; structural analysis of the ankyrin domain sheds light on existing data. Mol Cell 2004;13:619–26.
- [57] Sakamoto K, Chao WS, Katsube K, Yamaguchi A. Distinct roles of EGF repeats for the Notch signaling system. Exp Cell Res 2005;302:281–91.
- [58] Sestan N, Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rakic P. Contact-dependent inhibition of cortical neurite growth mediated by notch signaling. Science 1999;286:741–6.
- [59] Hansson EM, Lendahl U, Chapman G. Notch signaling in development and disease. Semin Cancer Biol 2004;14:320–8.
- [60] Shindo K, Kawashima N, Sakamoto K, Yamaguchi A, Umezawa A, Takagi M, et al. Osteogenic differentiation of the mesenchymal progenitor cells, Kusa is suppressed by Notch signalling. Exp Cell Res 2003;290:370–80.
- [61] Blokzijl A, Dahlqvist C, Reissmann E, Falk A, Moliner A, Lendahl U, et al. Cross-talk between the Notch and TGF-beta signaling pathways mediated by interaction of the Notch intracellular domain with Smad3. J Cell Biol 2003;163:723–8.
- [62] Takizawa T, Ochiai W, Nakashima K, Taga T. Enhanced gene activation by Notch and BMP signaling cross-talk. Nucleic Acids Res 2003;31:5723–31.
- [63] de Jong DS, Steegenga WT, Hendriks JM, van Zoelen EJ, Olijve W, Dechering KJ. Regulation of Notch signaling genes during BMP2-induced differentiation of osteoblast precursor cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;320:100–7.
- [64] Zamurovic N, Cappellen D, Rohner D, Susa M. Coordinated activation of notch, Wnt, and transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathways in bone morphogenic protein 2-induced osteogenesis. Notch target gene Hey1 inhibits mineralization and Runx2 transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem 2004;279: 37704–15.
- [65] Perbal B, Martinerie C, Sainson R, Werner M, He B, Roizman B. The C-terminal domain of the regulatory protein NOVH is sufficient to promote interaction with fibulin 1C: a clue for a role of NOVH in cell-adhesion signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:869–74.
- [66] Perbal B. The CCN family of genes: a brief history. Mol Pathol 2001;54:103-4.

- [67] Gupta N, Wang H, McLeod TL, Naus CC, Kyurkchiev S, Advani S, et al. Inhibition of glioma cell growth and tumorigenic potential by CCN3 (NOV). Mol Pathol 2001;54:293–9.
- [68] Natarajan D, Andermarcher E, Schofield PN, Boulter CA. Mouse Nov gene is expressed in hypaxial musculature and cranial structures derived from neural crest cells and placodes. Dev Dyn 2000;219:417–25.
- [69] Crowe R, Zikherman J, Niswander L. Delta-1 negatively regulates the transition from prehypertrophic to hypertrophic chondrocytes during cartilage formation. Development 1999;126: 987–98.
- [70] Kocialkowski S, Yeger H, Kingdom J, Perbal B, Schofield PN. Expression of the human NOV gene in first trimester fetal tissues. Anat Embryol 2001;203:417–27.
- [71] Lindner V, Booth C, Prudovsky I, Small D, Maciag T, Liaw L. Members of the Jagged/Notch gene families are expressed in injured arteries and regulate cell phenotype via alterations in cell matrix and cell-cell interaction. Am J Pathol 2001;159: 875–83.
- [72] Ellis PD, Chen Q, Barker PJ, Metcalfe JC, Kemp PR. Nov gene encodes adhesion factor for vascular smooth muscle cells and is dynamically regulated in response to vascular injury. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;20:1912–9.
- [73] Lee JS, Thomas DM, Gutierrez G, Carty SA, Yanagawa S, Hinds PW. HES1 cooperates with pRb to activate RUNX2-dependent transcription. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21:921–33.
- [74] Rydziel S, Stadmeyer L, Zanotti S, Durant D, Smerdel-Ramoya A, Canalis E. Nephroblastoma overexpressed (Nov) inhibits osteoblastogenesis and causes osteopenia. J Biol Chem 2007;282: 19762–7.
- [75] Gupta R, Hong D, Iborra F, Sarno S, Enver T. NOV(CCN3) functions as a regulator of human hematopoietic stem or progenitor cell. Science 2007;316:590–3.
- [76] Arai F, Hirao A, Ohmura M, Sato H, Matsuoka S, Takubo K, et al. Tie2/angiopoietin-1 signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence in the bone marrow niche. Cell 2004;118: 149–61.
- [77] Wozney JM, Rosen V, Celeste AJ, Mitsock LM, Whitters MJ, Kriz RW, et al. Novel regulators of bone formation: molecular clones and activities. Science 1988;242:1528–34.